### University of Nebraska - Lincoln DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

David Berkowitz Publications

Published Research - Department of Chemistry

April 2006

# α-Vinylic amino acids: occurrence, asymmetric synthesis, and biochemical mechanisms

David B. Berkowitz University of Nebraska - Lincoln, dberkowitz1@unl.edu

Bradley D. Charette University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Kannan Karukurichi University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Jill M. McFadden University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/chemistryberkowitz Part of the <u>Chemistry Commons</u>

Berkowitz, David B.; Charette, Bradley D.; Karukurichi, Kannan; and McFadden, Jill M., "α-Vinylic amino acids: occurrence, asymmetric synthesis, and biochemical mechanisms" (2006). *David Berkowitz Publications*. 3. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/chemistryberkowitz/3

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Published Research - Department of Chemistry at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in David Berkowitz Publications by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

Published in Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 17:6 (March 20, 2006), pp. 869–882. Copyright © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/09574166 Used by permission. Submitted February 22, 2006; accepted February 27, 2006; published online April 4, 2006.

#### Tetrahedron: Asymmetry — Report Number 86

## α-Vinylic amino acids: occurrence, asymmetric synthesis, and biochemical mechanisms

David B. Berkowitz, Bradley D. Charette, Kannan R. Karukurichi, and Jill M. McFadden

Department of Chemistry, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Lincoln, NE 68588-0304

Abstract — This report presents an overview of the family of naturally occurring "vinylic" amino acids, namely those that feature a C–C double bond directly attached to the  $\alpha$ -carbon, along the side chain. Strategies that have been brought to bear on the stereocontrolled synthesis of these olefinic amino acids are surveyed. The mechanistic diversity by which such "vinylic triggers" can be actuated in a PLP (pyridoxal phosphate) enzyme active site is then highlighted by discussion of vinylglycine (VG), its substituted congeners, particularly AVG [4*E*-(2'-aminoethoxy)vinylglycine], and a naturally occurring VG-progenitor, SMM [(*S*)-methylmethionine].

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	
2.	Natural occurrence	
	2.1. Vinylglycine	
	2.2. β-Substituted	
	2.3. γ-Substituted	
	2.3.1. MVG	
	2.3.2. AVG	
	2.3.3. Rhizobitoxine	
	2.3.4. Other γ-substituted VG analogues	
	2.4. β,γ-Disubstituted	
3.	Asymmetric synthesis	
	3.1. Chiron-based entries into vinylglycine	
	3.2. Enzymatic kinetic resolutions to VG	
	3.3. Chiral auxiliary-based approaches to VG	
	3.4. Catalytic asymmetric syntheses of vinylglycine	
	3.5. Methoxyvinylglycine (MVG)	
	3.6. Rhizobitoxine	
	3.7. 2-Amino-5-phosphono-4-pentenoic acid (APPA)	
4.	Mechanism.	
	4.1. Vinylic amino acids as conformationally constrained amino acid analog	ues?876
	4.2. Mechanism A—vinylogous imidate formation	
	4.3. Mechanism B—Michael addition	
	4.4. SMM: A natural "Pro-Form" of a vinylic amino acid?	
5.	Conclusion	
	Acknowledgements	
	References	

#### 1. Introduction

Enzymes that depend on the cofactor, pyridoxal phosphate (PLP),<sup>1</sup> generally serve to transform amino acids. In contrast to the amino acid decarboxylases (e.g., L-DOPA or L-ornithine decarboxylase) and the retroaldolases (e.g., serine hydroxymethyltransferase), most classes of PLP enzymes initiate their chemistry by abstracting the  $\alpha$ -proton of the substrate amino acid. These include: (i) transaminases, such as  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate (GABA) transaminase, that interconvert amino acids and their corresponding  $\alpha$ -keto acids; (ii) racemases, such as alanine racemase, a key bacterial cell wall biosynthetic enzyme; (iii)  $\beta$ -eliminase or replacement enzymes, such as cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS), a key human transsulfuration enzyme, and (iv)  $\gamma$ -eliminase or replacement enzymes, such as cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase (CGL), the next enzyme in this pathway. For the latter enzymatic class, a subsequent  $\beta$ -deprotonation is also necessary. The eliminase or replacement enzymes, then subsequently expel the leaving group attached to the  $\beta$ - or  $\gamma$ carbon, respectively, using the electron density imported into the PLP  $\pi$ -system from the deprotonation step(s).

As can be seen in Figure 1,  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids feature a C–C double bond directly attached to the  $\alpha$ -carbon atom. If an  $\alpha$ -proton is also present, one may regard these as vinylglycine congeners. For such amino acids, removal of the  $\alpha$ -proton has the effect of conjugating the otherwise isolated vinyl group with the extended  $\pi$ -system of the cofactor. This can lead to a more reactive intermediate, as will be discussed later. At the outset, it suffices to note the correspondence between the initial step in the mechanism of many PLP enzymes and the initial step in the unmasking of the vinyl group in this class of amino acids.



Figure 1. PLP enzymes that  $\alpha$ -deprotonate and  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acid structure.

#### 2. Natural occurrence

Perhaps, seeking to capitalize on the latent reactivity of the double bond, in some cases, perhaps benefiting from the "conformational constraint" afforded by the sp<sup>2</sup>-alkene geometry, in others, Nature has evolved a class of  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids—the subject of this Report. Note that the discussion herein will be restricted to the class of vinylic amino acids bearing unsaturation directly attached to the  $\alpha$ -center, and also bearing an  $\alpha$ -proton. Quaternary  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids represent both a structurally and functionally distinct amino acid class, as these do not possess an  $\alpha$ -proton and, thus target a different set of PLP enzymes (vide supra).<sup>2, 3, 4, 5, 6, & 7</sup>

#### 2.1. Vinylglycine

Among the naturally occurring  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids, the simplest and probably most widely studied member of the family is  $\alpha$ -vinylglycine (VG) itself. The D-antipode is known to be produced by the mushroom, Rhodophyllus nidorosus.<sup>8</sup> On the other hand, the antipode, L-VG is generated in a variety of PLP enzyme active sites. For example, L-VG is observed as a mechanistic intermediate to  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate in the reaction catalyzed by cystathionine  $\gamma$ -synthase,<sup>9</sup> and in the conversion of homoserine to threonine by threonine synthetase.<sup>10</sup> L-VG is a substrate for sheep liver threonine deaminase,<sup>11</sup> E. coli tryptophan synthetase,<sup>12</sup> rat liver cystathionine y-lyase and Salmonella typhimerium cystathionine γ-synthetase.<sup>13</sup> L-VG also reportedly undergoes deamination and  $\gamma$ -addition by L-methionine  $\gamma$ -lyase.<sup>14 & 15</sup> D-VG is a substrate (processed to  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate and NH<sub>3</sub>), but not inhibitor, of ACC deaminase, while L-VG is neither (Fig. 2).<sup>16</sup>



Figure 2. Naturally occurring vinylglycine antipodes.

Perhaps because of its small side chain, the parent member of the family displays a rather broad spectrum of transaminase inhibition. Thus, (dl)-VG inhibits aspartate aminotransferase,<sup>17 & 18</sup> D-amino acid transaminase,<sup>13</sup> and kynurenine aminotransferase,<sup>19</sup> whereas the D-isomer has been specifically shown to inhibit rat hepatic alanine aminotransferase.<sup>18</sup>

Interestingly, it appears that one can also tap into radical based inactivation pathways with VG. Thus, the flavoenzyme L-amino acid oxidase is presumably inactivated by the L-antipode, though, to the best of our knowledge, these studies have only been performed on the racemate.<sup>20</sup> In a complementary study, Vederas and Zabriskie have shown that the tripeptide D-Phe-L-Phe-D-VG inactivates peptide  $\alpha$ -hydroxylating enzyme, an enzyme responsible for installing C-terminal carboxamide functionality.<sup>21 & 22</sup> Interestingly, inversion of the stereocenter of the terminal amino acid to L-VG yields a tripeptide that displays only reversible inhibition of the enzyme.

L-VG also irreversibly inactivates the nifS gene product, an enzyme that releases S from L-cysteine for Fe–S cluster biosynthesis.<sup>23</sup> Finally, the best characterization of the mode of inactivation of a PLP enzyme by VG is for the enzyme ACC (1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate) synthase.<sup>24, 25, 26, 27, & 28</sup> This is discussed in considerable detail in Section 4.

#### 2.2. β-Substituted

Three naturally occurring  $\beta$ -substituted vinylglycine analogues are described in the literature (Fig. 3). L-3,4-Didehydrovaline **2** is a constituent of the 13-membered macrocycle phomopsin A, isolated from *Phomopsis leptostromifrmis*.<sup>29 & 30</sup>  $\beta$ -Methylene-L-norvaline **3** has been isolated from both *Lactarius helvus*<sup>31</sup> and *Philadelphus coronarius*.<sup>32</sup> Finally,  $\beta$ -methylene-Lnorleucine **4** is found in isolates from *Amanita vaginata*.<sup>33</sup>



Figure 3. β-Substituted vinylglycines from natural sources.

#### 2.3. γ-Substituted

As is shown in Figure 4, there is a notable spectrum of  $\gamma$ -substituted vinylglycine-based natural products. Several of these have an interesting enol ether substructure that appears to influence the mechanism (vide infra).

#### 2.3.1. MVG

The first vinylic amino acid bearing an enol ether functionality to be characterized was 4*E*-methoxyvinylglycine **5** (MVG), isolated from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.<sup>34 and 35</sup> Interestingly, this vinyl ether serves as a substrate of methionine  $\gamma$ -lyase,<sup>15</sup> and both a substrate and an inhibitor of tryptophan synthase.<sup>36 & 12</sup> In pioneering work, Rando showed that **5** inactivates porcine aspartate aminotransferase.<sup>37 & 38</sup> Similar observations were made with the rat enzyme.<sup>18</sup> *E*-MVG has been reported to inhibit porphobilinogen synthase,<sup>39</sup> as well as  $\delta$ -aminolevulinic acid synthetase and dehydratase from rat tissue.<sup>40</sup> As it turns out, the *Z*isomer of MVG, though apparently not naturally occurring, is one of the most effective inhibitors of methionine adenosyltransferase.<sup>41 & 42</sup> This is discussed in more detail in Section 4.

#### 2.3.2. AVG

The *E*-isomer of 4-(2'-aminoethoxy)vinylglycine, AVG **6** can be biosynthesized in *Streptomyces*.<sup>43</sup> Like MVG, AVG bears an oxygen at the  $\gamma$ -carbon, and so resembles methionine. However, unlike MVG, AVG has a more extended side chain, terminating is an ammonium group, that is positively charged at physiological pH. This ammonium group is positionally juxta-



Figure 4.  $\gamma$ -Substituted vinylic amino acids.

posed on the cysteine-derived ammonium group of l, L-cystathionine. Whereas Z-MVG serves as an apparent L-methionine isostere in the methionine adenosyltransferase active site, unsurprisingly, AVG was found to inhibit cystathionine processing enzymes including cystathionine  $\beta$ -lyase,<sup>44 & 43</sup> and human recombinant cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase.<sup>45</sup> AVG also inhibits cystalysin,<sup>46</sup> the enzyme that catalyzes the  $\beta$ -elimination of cysteine to pyruvate, ammonia, and H<sub>2</sub>S.

Most importantly, the positively charged ammonium group along the methionine-like side chain engenders AVG with a structural similarity to SAM. Indeed, AVG is a well-known inhibitor of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) synthase, the PLP enzyme that converts SAM into ACC. Since this serves as a key step in plant ethylene biosynthesis, AVG has seen wide application as a fruit ripening inhibitor. The ACC synthase inhibitory behavior of AVG has been characterized with the enzymes from both red tomato and apple.<sup>47, 48, & 49</sup>

#### 2.3.3. Rhizobitoxine

The third and most structurally complex member of the enol ether subfamily of the  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids is rhizobitoxine 7. The backbone of this amino acid superimposes upon that of AVG, but a second stereocenter is added precisely where the second stereocenter in cystathionine is located. Only here, a hydroxymethyl group is appended to this stereocenter, in place of the cystathionine carboxylate group, and with the appropriate stereochemistry to mimic this amino acid.

Rhizobitoxine is produced by symbiotic bacteria, such as *Rhizobium japonicum*,<sup>50, 51, & 52</sup> and also by the plant pathogen, *Pseudomonas andropogonis*.<sup>53</sup> Presumably, at least in part because of its close structural resemblance to cystathionine, rhizobitoxine inhibits cystathionine  $\beta$ -lyase, from both *Salmonella typhimurium* and spinach.<sup>50 & 54</sup> Rhizobitoxine also decreases hydrogenase biosynthesis in *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*,<sup>55</sup> by inhibiting depression of the hydrogenase gene. However, as this effect is reversed by the addition of methionine, this may be a downstream consequence of rhizobitoxine's inhibition of methionine biosynthesis at the cystathionine  $\beta$ -lyase stage.

Probably the most important activity of rhizobitoxine resides in its ability, analogous to AVG, to inhibit ACC synthase.<sup>56</sup> This is one of the two important mechanisms by which symbiotic bacteria are known to inhibit ethylene biosynthesis in the roots of their host legumes.<sup>57</sup> The other is through the activity of bacterial SAM deaminase, which rather than inhibit the conversion of SAM to ACC, simply siphons off SAM by oxidative deamination. As the plant hormone, ethylene, is known to inhibit root nodulation, rhizobia have presumably evolved these interesting mechanisms for ethylene biosynthesis inhibition to insure a favorable nodulation environment for their survival. As there are agricultural biotechnological interests in nitrogen fixation, rhizobitoxine and/or the rhizobitoxine biosynthetic machinery may have future applications here.

#### 2.3.4. Other γ-substituted VG analogues

A naturally occurring phosphonate analogue of homoserine phosphate, Z-2-amino-5-phosphono-3-pentenoic acid **9** (Z-APPA) is a constituent of the dipeptide rhizocticins,<sup>58 & 59</sup> and tripeptide plumbemycins.<sup>60 & 59</sup> One might predict, that the free amino acid, APPA is active against PLP enzymes that normally take L-homoserine phosphate as a substrate. This includes cystathionine  $\gamma$ -synthase (synthesize cystathionine from cysteine and homoserine phosphate) for which *E*-APPA is a tight-binding reversible inhibitor (see Section 4 for further discussion).<sup>61</sup> Threonine synthase is a PLP enzyme that performs a  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -phosphate elimination/ $\beta$ -hydration sequence from L-homoserine phosphate. The threonine synthase enzyme from *E. coli* is irreversibly inactivated by both the *E*- and *Z*-isomers of APPA.<sup>62</sup>

*E*-3,4-Dehydro-2-aminopimelic acid **8** has been isolated from *Aspenium unilaterale*.<sup>63 & 64</sup> *Z*-3,5-Hexadienoic acid **10** (butadienylglycine) is found in the defensive secretions of *Doryphorina* beetles,<sup>65</sup> *Platyphora kollari* beetles,<sup>66</sup> and in the fruiting bodies of *Clavulinopsis helvola*.<sup>67</sup> Amino acids **11** and **12** were found as amino acid constituents of the dipeptide trypsin inhibitor, radiosumin A, biosynthesized by the cyanobacterium *Plectonema radiosum*.<sup>68 & 69</sup> The two differ only through Nacetylation at the 8-position in compound **12**, and the unsaturation across the 5,6-carbons in compound **11**. The very closely related amino acids, **13** and **14**, are the constituents of a similar dipeptide trypsin inhibitor, later identified in the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*, and named radiosumin B.<sup>70</sup>

#### 2.4. β,γ-Disubstituted

Densely functionalized vinylic amino acids **15** and **16**, differing only in the oxidation state of the  $\beta$ -appendage, were isolated together from the mushroom *Bankera fulgineoalba*.<sup>71</sup> The novel chlorinated glutamate analogue, **17**, is found in isolates of *Streptomyces viridogenes*.<sup>72</sup> The function of these interesting  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids remains to be elucidated (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. β,γ-Substituted vinylic amino acids.

#### 3. Asymmetric synthesis

Owing to its interesting enzyme-inhibitory activity and its potential as a synthon, <sup>73</sup>, <sup>74</sup>, <sup>75</sup>, <sup>76</sup>, <sup>77</sup>, <sup>78</sup>, <sup>79</sup>, <sup>80</sup>, <sup>81</sup>, <sup>82</sup>, <sup>83</sup>, <sup>84</sup>, <sup>85</sup>, <sup>86</sup>, <sup>87</sup>, <sup>88</sup>, <sup>89</sup>, <sup>& 90</sup> vinylglycine has attracted the attention of synthetic chemists. Hence, a variety of asymmetric synthetic methodologies to access D- and L-vinylglycine are available in the current literature. A compilation of known stereocontrolled approaches for this important target is presented below.

#### 3.1. Chiron-based entries into vinylglycine

Afzali-Ardakani and Rapoport reported the first synthesis of vinylglycine from L-methionine.<sup>91</sup> In this synthesis, controlled oxidation to the sulfoxide, followed by pyrolysis under Kugel-rohr conditions, allowed them to distill over the protected vinylglycine product as it forms. Deprotection produces L-vinylglycine in 99% enantiomeric excess (Scheme 1).



Scheme 1. Rapoport's sulfoxide pyrolysis entry.

A photofragmentation approach, again starting from L-methionine has been developed by Griesbeck et al.<sup>92 & 93</sup> Irradiation of the sulfoxide(s) 21a/b at 300 nm in acetonitrile gives methyl *N*-phthaloyL-L-vinylglycinate 24. This protocol encountered problems due to side reactions when substrate concentrations above 10 mM were used. This limitation was overcome by photolyzing the ring-opened product of L-homoserine lactone with HBr or HCl (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Griesbeck's photofragmentation route from L-methionine.

Berkowitz et al. also developed a practical route to L-vinylglycine from homoserine lactone, in this case, via organoselenium chemistry (Scheme 3).<sup>94</sup> Thus, opening of *N*-Boc-protected Lhomoserine lactone **26** with phenylselenolate anion occurs exclusively at the softer  $\gamma$ -carbon, allowing for subsequent installation of the double bond via *syn* elimination of the selenoxide.



Scheme 3. Berkowitz et al.'s use of phenylselenolate lactone-opening chemistry.

A route developed by Pellicciari et al.,<sup>95</sup> likewise employs Lhomoserine as the chiron, and also avails itself of selenoxide elimination chemistry. In this route, however, rather than use nucleophilic lactone opening for the introduction of selenium, a modified Mitsunobu protocol developed by Grieco<sup>96, 97, & 98</sup> was exploited (Scheme 4).

There are two classic vinylglycine syntheses that employ Lglutamate as the chiron. Early on, Hanessian developed an elegant route based upon a Cu(II)/Pb(IV)-mediated oxidative decarboxylation of the  $\gamma$ -carboxylate to introduce the vinyl



Scheme 4. Arylselenium introduction via the Grieco protocol.



Scheme 5. Hanessian's oxidative decarboxylation of L-glutamate.

group (Scheme 5).<sup>99</sup> Townsend et al. later reported improvements in the procedure, based upon the use of benzyl and benzhydryl esters to facilitate the purification (crystallization), deprotection, and assessment of enantiomeric purity.<sup>84</sup>

A complementary route from L-glutamate exploits the Barton decarboxylation of *N*-hydroxyl-2-chalcogenopyridone esters (Scheme 6).<sup>100</sup> The photochemical decarboxylative rearrangement of ester **32** provides the  $\gamma$ -arylselenide **33** directly. This in-



Scheme 6. Decarboxylative introduction of selenium via a Barton ester.

termediate is primed for introduction of the  $\alpha$ -vinyl group via oxidative pyrolysis of the pyridyl selenide. One obtains protected Lvinylglycine in acceptable yield and with uncompromised ee.

Diaz-de-Villegas et al.<sup>101</sup> have achieved the synthesis of L-vinylglycine from D-glyceraldehyde. This synthesis utilizes stereochemical communication, wherein the original, chiral poolderived stereocenter is used to induce stereochemistry in an adjacent center, and is then excised oxidatively in unveiling the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group. A highly diastereoselective vinyl-Grignard addition to *N*-benzyl-2,3-*O*-isopropylidene-D-glyceraldimine is the hallmark of this synthesis (Scheme 7). Note that the diastereopreference observed is in accordance with the Felkin-Anh model. However, for such cyclic systems, the authors suggest that other transition state models might also be considered.<sup>102</sup>

L-Serine also serves as a chiral pool precursor to L-vinylglycine, via methylenation protocols, though here extra care must be taken to minimize racemization of the intermediate aldehyde. Thus, Lajoie et al.<sup>103</sup> report that application of the Peterson olefination to a suitably protected L-serinal derivative leads to L-vinylglycine in high ee (Scheme 8). Whereas attempts to induce conversion of the intermediate  $\beta$ -hydroxysilane **40** to the alkene with base failed, acidic conditions not only succeeded, but also permitted concomitant Cbz and OBO orthoester deprotection. Note that other olefination methods examined generally gave a significant degree of racemization. In a similar vein, Beaulieu et al.<sup>104</sup> used methylenation of the Garner aldehyde to access vinylglycine, albeit in modest yields and ee.



Scheme 7. Galvez's Felkin-Anh-vinylation route from D-glyceraldehyde.



Scheme 8. Lajoie's Peterson olefination route from L-serine.

#### 3.2. Enzymatic kinetic resolutions to VG

In a couple of instances, enzymatic kinetic resolution has been applied to VG targets. Very early on, Helboe et al.<sup>105</sup> subjected (dl)-vinylglycine, obtained via a Strecker synthesis with acrolein, to fermentation with baker's yeast. D-Vinylglycine was obtained in 39% yield and 82% ee.

Later, Crout et al.<sup>106</sup> described an interesting route to racemic vinylglycine via Neber rearrangement of *N*-chloroimidate **41**. This was followed by a papain-mediated esterification in a biphasic system to give the individual antipodes (Scheme 9). Two cycles were employed to obtain the remaining D-enantiomer. Precise ee determinations were not reported, but the specific rotations reported compared well with literature values.



Scheme 9. Neber rearrangement/papain-based kinetic resolution.

#### 3.3. Chiral auxiliary-based approaches to VG

Schöllkopf<sup>107</sup> demonstrated that his widely employed chiral glycine enolate equivalent could be formally  $\alpha$ -vinylated using a vinyl cation equivalent developed by Hudrlik<sup>108</sup> (Scheme 10). During the reaction, the condensation of the lithiated bislactim ether 44 (derived from L-valine and glycine) with 2-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)acetaldehyde proceeded in good yield and with excellent cyclic stereocontrol. Subsequent treatment with HCl serves to effect  $\beta$ -elimination of the elements of "HO-SiR<sub>3</sub>" and unravel the bis-lactim ether auxiliary, yielding free D-vinylglycine of high enantiomeric purity.



Scheme 10. Schöllkopf's formal vinylation of his chiral glycine enolate.

Duhamel et al. examined the possibility of inducing asymmetry from an external chiral acid source, upon enolate quenching. Specifically, the benzophenone imine-protected dehydrobutyrine derivative **46** was deprotonated with LDA to generate an extended dienolate **47**, that was then quenched at -70 °C with (*R*,*R*)-*O*,*O'*-dipivaloyltartaric acid. This kinetic quench produced a 42:58 ratio of  $\alpha$ - to  $\gamma$ -protonation, with the former (deconjugation) product showing modest facial selectivity in favor of the D-antipode of vinylglycine (Scheme 11).



Scheme 11. Duhamel's chiral acid dienolate protonation approach.

#### 3.4. Catalytic asymmetric syntheses of vinylglycine

Trost et al.<sup>109, 110, & 111</sup> have developed an elegant DYKAT (dynamic kinetic asymmetric transformation) approach to L-vinylglycinol from racemic butadiene monoepoxide (Scheme 12). The approach hinges on a Pd(0)-mediated allylic amination reaction, with ligand **49** serving to provide the chiral scaffold about Pd. Phthalimide is used as *N*-nucleophile and no exogenous base is needed, as relief of ring strain is used to form a formally chargeseparated  $\pi$ -allyl-Pd intermediate, bearing a transient alkoxy leaving group. Presumably, this alkoxide is well suited to deprotonate the phthalimide nucleophile and deliver it to the appended  $\pi$ -allyl acceptor. This highly regio- and stereoselective pro-



Scheme 12. Trost's DYKAT asymmetric allylic amination route.

cess leads to the formation of (S)-2-phthalimido-3-buten-1-ol **50**, which is then transformed to vinylglycinol in two steps.

Recently, in the context of an ISES (in situ enzymatic screening) approach to catalyst discovery,<sup>112</sup> our group reported the first examples of asymmetric Ni(0)-mediated allylic amination chemistry.<sup>113 & 114</sup> Here an *N*-protected-4-vinyloxazolin-2-one intermediate was generated via an enantioselective, intramolecular allylic amination with a Ni(0)-BIPHEP catalyst system (Scheme 13). This was then transformed to L-vinylglycine.



Scheme 13. Berkowitz et al.'s Ni(0)-mediated asymmetric allylic amination route.

#### 3.5. Methoxyvinylglycine (MVG)

An *N*-acylase mediated resolution of the *Z*- and *E*-isomers of MVG has been reported by Keith et al. (Route A, Scheme 14).<sup>115</sup> Alks<sup>116</sup> introduced the following two modifications: (i) stereose-



Scheme 14. Introducing the enol ether into E- and Z-MVG.

lective synthesis of *N*-Ac-(dl)-*E*-MVG methyl ester; (ii) thermal isomerization of the *E*- to *Z*-methyl ester (Route B, Scheme 14).

Acylase resolves each geometric isomer of MVG, by selectively deacetylating the L-amide<sup>115</sup> (Scheme 15).



Scheme 15. Enzymatic resolution of E- and Z-MVG.

#### 3.6. Rhizobitoxine

A concise synthesis of L-rhizobitoxine has been reported by Keith et al.<sup>117</sup> (Scheme 16). The key transformation is a palladium(II)-mediated *trans*-vinyl etherification between *N*-Cbz-*O*-benzyl-D-serinol and *N*-Cbz-L-MVG benzyl ester ( $E:Z \sim 3:2$ ).



Scheme 16. Keith's route to rhizobitoxine.

#### 3.7. 2-Amino-5-phosphono-4-pentenoic acid (APPA)

Kirihata has reported an asymmetric synthesis of *E*-APPA that strategically resembles Schöllkopf's vinylglcyine synthesis (Scheme 10), in that reaction of an aldehyde with the

lithiated chiral bis-lactim ether 44, sets the  $\alpha$ -stereochemistry in both approaches. Here, the use of acrolein results in an allylic center, which can then be coerced to undergo Pd(II)-mediated allylic transposition, albeit in modest yield, to 64. Subsequent Arbuzov chemistry installs the terminal phosphonate (Scheme 17).



Scheme 17. Kirihata's approach to E-APPA.

#### 4. Mechanism

## 4.1. Vinylic amino acids as conformationally constrained amino acid analogues?

As was mentioned earlier, *Z*-MVG, the geometric isomer of the natural product, inhibits methionine adensyl transferase, the enzyme responsible for the synthesis of SAM [(*S*)-adenosylmethionine] from ATP and L-methionine. The crystal structure of this enzyme in complex with *Z*-MVG reveals the L-methionine binding site.<sup>41 & 42</sup> This may be an example of an  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acid that serves as a good conformationally constrained analogue of the saturated, and hence, inherently more flexible, natural substrate.

Similarly, perhaps *E*-APPA, also the geometric isomer of the natural product, acts as a reversible, tightly bound analogue of homoserine phosphate in the active site of cystathionine  $\gamma$ -synthase (CGS).<sup>61</sup> In this case as well, the X-ray crystal structure of the E–I complex, identified the binding pocket of the phosphate side chain of the natural substrate. This suggests this vinylic amino acid with its *E* double bond configuration mimics L-homoserine phosphate "frozen" in an extended conformation, that is especially productive for binding. The X-ray structure reveals that *E*-APPA interacts with both the  $\alpha$ -carboxylate and side chain phosphate binding pockets of CGS, in support of this view. In the sections to follow, we focus on inhibition mechanisms that appear to require enzymatic chemistry beyond the simple initial transimination reaction that is the canonical first step in the binding of an amine substrate or substrate analogue to a PLP enzyme. In this sense, the mechanisms that follow highlight the possibility for *mechanism-based* or *enzyme-activated* inhibition in this class of  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids.

#### 4.2. Mechanism A-vinylogous imidate formation

The first mechanism that we wish to consider is likely favorable for the subclass of  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids that features a heteroatom directly attached to the  $\gamma$ -carbon. This is the case for MVG, AVG, and rhizobitoxine (Fig. 4), for which the heteroatom is oxygen (i.e., enol ethers), though the same principle could apply to other heteroatoms. Although Rando first carried out important mechanistic studies on the inhibition of aspartate aminotransferase by MVG many years ago, crystallographic information on the bound states of members of this vinylic amino acid class has only appeared much more recently.

As illustrated in Scheme 18, transimination from the resting state of the PLP enzyme would produce the external aldimine in which the  $\alpha$ -vinylic functionality remains isolated from the  $\pi$ -system of the cofactor. As mentioned in the outset of this Report, the first mechanistic step for a PLP dependent transaminase, racemase, or eliminase is  $\alpha$ -deprotonation. This produces a quinonoid intermediate in which the vinyl group is now fully conjugated with the PLP system. However, heteroatoms with donating lone pairs oppose one another at the ends of this system. Should protonation at C-4' ensue, this would have the effect of removing the N-1-lone pair from the system, and this generates a vinylogous imidate. Such a ketimine is expected to benefit from the excellent alkoxy electron donor/iminium electron acceptor juxtaposition at the ends of this five atom  $\pi$ -system. In other words, the  $\pi$ -delocalization energy inherent in the end ether functionality of the inhibitor would have been significantly enhanced through an enzyme-mediated azaallylic isomerization, leading to this stable bound cofactor adduct.

In fact, three X-ray crystal structures are available for AVG bound in PLP enzyme active sites (Fig. 6): apple ACC synthase (PDB ID: 1M7Y; 1.6 Å),<sup>49</sup> cystalysin (PDB ID: 1C7O; 2.5 Å),<sup>46</sup> and cystathionine  $\beta$ -lyase (PDB ID: 1CL2; 2.2 Å).<sup>44</sup> It should be noted that these enzymes are all eliminases, catalyzing the  $\alpha,\gamma$ -elimination of SAM to ACC, the  $\alpha,\beta$ -elimination of cysteine to pyruvate (eventually) and the  $\alpha,\beta$ -elimination of cystathionine to cysteine, respectively. So, all inherently  $\alpha$ -deprotonate their natural substrates.



Scheme 18. Mechanism A: vinylogous imidate formation from γ-alkoxy-α-vinyl amino acids via PLP enzyme-catalyzed azallylic isomerization.



Figure 6. Cofactor-AVG adducts bound in three PLP enzyme active sites (PDB codes: 1M7Y, 1C7O, and 1CL2, respectively).

The ACC synthase structure is the highest resolution of the three and also provides the best evidence for such a bound vinylogous imidate. The dihedral angles across the  $C_{\gamma}-C_{\beta}$  and  $C_{\beta}-C_{\alpha}$  bonds are modeled at 177° and -146°, respectively, consistent with such conjugation. Furthermore, the  $C_{4'}$ -N- $C_{\alpha}$ - $C_{\beta}$  and  $C_{4'}$ -N- $C_{\alpha}$ -carboxylate dihedrals are at 7° and -175°, respectively, consistent with azallylic isomerization having occurred in the ACC synthase active site. Deviation from planarity increases across  $C_{\beta}-C_{\alpha}$  as one moves from this structure to the CBL structure, but near planarity is retained across  $C_{\gamma}-C_{\beta}$ . The cystalysin structure provides little evidence for such conjugation, but is also the lowest resolution of the three. Furthermore, the uncertainty inherent in E–I X-ray structures of this sort does not allow us to assign the double bond loci with certainty.

Nonetheless, the notion that  $\gamma$ -alkoxy- $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids have a preference to form stabilized vinylogous imidate complexes with PLP would appear to be a chemically reasonably postulate, worthy of further scrutiny in investigations of this amino acid subclass. Interestingly, in his early work with MVG, Rando observed a pronounced tendency of that amino acid to undergo azaallylic isomerization, even in Snell-type model reactions with PLP and Al<sup>3+</sup>,<sup>38</sup> consistent with the notion of a thermodynamic driving force toward vinylogous imidate formation in these adducts.

#### 4.3. Mechanism B—Michael addition

Vinylglycine, the parent member of the  $\alpha$ -vinyl amino acid family was isolated from a mushroom source in 1974.<sup>8</sup> In the same year, Rando reported on its irreversible inactivation of a PLP enzyme, namely aspartate aminotransferase.<sup>17</sup> As was discussed earlier (Section 2.1), vinylglycine inactivates a number of PLP enzymes, most of which are transaminases. Yet only in the past year has the nature of the covalent adduct formed between vinylglycine and one of its target enzymes lent itself to crystallographic characterization. This feat was accomplished with the enzyme ACC synthase.<sup>24</sup> This enzyme normally engages its natural substrate, SAM in PLP aldimine linkage, followed by  $\alpha$ -deprotonation. An unusual expulsion of the  $\gamma$ -leaving group, methylthioadenosine (MTA), is the normal next mechanistic step, leading to the formation of the strained cyclopropane ring of ACC.

As is discussed in greater detail below, L-vinylglycine is both an inhibitor and an abnormal ( $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -elimination) product of this enzyme. A possible mechanism for the inactivation of ACC synthase with L-vinylglycine is depicted in Scheme 19. The normal first step,  $\alpha$ -deprotonation is followed by C-4'-protonation, as in Mechanism A, leading to an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated iminium ion. This Michael acceptor is then captured by an active site nucleophile. The active site lysine is always a candidate for this role, as it is displaced in the initial transimination step. This lysine residue then presumably remains in the vicinity of the resulting E–S or E–I adduct and of the complexes mechanistically derived therefrom.

The 2005 Grütter/Kirsch crystal structure of ACC synthase inactivated with L-vinylglycine is depicted in Figure 7<sup>24</sup> and reveals that, indeed, the active site lysine has formed a covalent bond with the  $\gamma$ -carbon of the inhibitor, as predicted. The observation of the three dimensional structure of this adduct cements perhaps the most widely accepted mechanism for actuation of the  $\alpha$ -vinylic trigger. It also serves to rule out an alternative Michael addition pathway, whereby  $\alpha$ -deproton-



Scheme 19. Mechanism B: inactivation of ACC synthase by L-vinylglycine via enzyme-catalyzed azaallyllic isomerization-Michael addition.



Figure 7. Evidence of Mechanism B for L-vinylglycine with ACC synthase (PDB 1YNU) and for vigabatrin with GABA transaminase (PDB 1YHW).

ation would be followed by  $\gamma$ -protonation, leading to an electrophilic  $\beta$ -, rather than  $\gamma$ -carbon.

Finally, the  $\alpha$ -vinylic trigger found in the class of amino acids being reviewed here surely served as the inspiration for development of vigabatrin ( $\gamma$ -vinyl-GABA), as a mechanism-based inactivator of GABA transaminase. Vigabatrin was developed by the Marion Merrell Dow group into an anti-epileptic drug of widespread use, particularly in Europe.<sup>118</sup> It is probably fair to say that Vigabatrin was designed to act by a Michael addition mechanism analogous to Mechanism B (Scheme 19). Indeed, elegant mechanistic studies by the groups of Silverman<sup>119</sup> and John<sup>120</sup> pointed to such a mechanism as the primary one through which the drug inactivated its target enzyme, GABA transaminase. Pleasingly, the X-ray crystal structure appeared in 2004,<sup>121</sup> and served to validate this mechanism, again with the active site lysine serving as the Michael nucleophile (Fig. 7).

#### 4.4. SMM: A natural "Pro-Form" of a vinylic amino acid?

The enzyme ACC synthase not only ended up serving as the showcase for the long-suspected Michael addition inactivation pathway of vinylglycine, it has also brought to light a novel mechanism by which Nature may biosynthesize vinylic amino acid progenitors. Namely, through a series of elegant studies from Kirsch et al., it has now been established that even subtle changes in the vicinity of the  $\gamma$ -leaving group of the SAM substrate for ACC synthase can lead to profound changes in mechanistic partitioning in the active site. These findings are illustrated schematically in Scheme 20.

Kirsch first studied the effect of the often ignored sulfur stereocenter in SAM on ACC processing. Natural SAM has the  $S_S$ stereochemistry, and undergoes errant  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -elimination to vinylglycine only once for every 60  $\alpha$ , $\gamma$ -eliminations to ACC.<sup>27</sup> On the other hand, inversion of this sulfonium stereocenter alone, retaining the important L-methionine center, results in a partition reversal.  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -Elimination now predominates by a 2.5:1 ratio over the usual  $\alpha$ , $\gamma$ -elimination.<sup>26</sup> This is really a remark-



Scheme 20. Fate of SAM and analogues in the ACC synthase active site.

able observation, especially when one considers that these two substrates not only share the same  $\alpha$ -stereochemistry, but have chemically exactly the same leaving group, MTA.

Perhaps led by this result, Kirsch et al. then decided to examine the behavior of L-(*S*)-methylmethionine (SMM), a ubiquitous component of the tissues of flowering plants; SMM undergoes no  $\alpha,\gamma$ -elimination whatsoever with ACC synthase. Instead, a small amount of transamination to the ketone is observed. Otherwise, one sees almost exclusive conversion of SMM to vinylglyine in this active site. Furthermore, there is 15-fold greater probability for SMM-derived "vinylglycine" to inactivate, when compared with SAMderived "vinylglycine." This probably reflects a greater percentage of enamine tautomer (i.e.,  $\gamma$ -protonation) in the SAM case, leading to more  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate product, as opposed to C-4'-protonation, which would lead to the inactivating Michael acceptor. These studies raise the intriguing possibility that L-SMM is a natural, masked progenitor of L-vinylglycine, itself a masked enzyme inactivator. Why two layers of unmasking? One possibility lies in the relatively broad spectrum PLP-enzyme inactivation profile of vinylglycine itself. Perhaps Nature has biosynthesized SMM as a way of targeting specific formation of vinylglycine to the ACC active site.

#### 5. Conclusion

The known  $\alpha$ -vinylic amino acids comprise of a diverse set of structurally and mechanistically fascinating natural products, many of which act as inhibitors of PLP enzymes, though additional members of the class are surely yet to be discovered. The parent member of the family, vinylglycine, has drawn the most attention, as it is both generated in a number of active sites, and serves as a broad spectrum inactivator. Its covalent mechanism of attachment to ACC synthase via Michael addition was just recently revealed by X-ray crystallography.

From a medicinal chemistry point of view, vinylglycine also served to inspire the development of Vigabatrin, an established drug for the prevention of epileptic seizures, and a possible candidate for future treatment of drug addiction.<sup>122, 123 and 124</sup> Interestingly, X-ray crystallographic studies on its GABA transaminase target now reveal as close a parallel between mechanisms of the designed drug and the natural product as could ever have been imagined.

From a synthetic point of view, vinylglycine has also been at the center of this amino acid class, because of its high value as a chiral synthetic building block toward the synthesis of alkaloids, azasugars, and novel amino acids. This continues to motivate organic chemists to develop asymmetric routes to each antipode of vinylglycine, from chiron based, to chiral auxiliary based, to catalytic asymmetric approaches.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the NSF (CHE-0317083), NIH (CA 62034), and American Heart Association (GIA 0350404N) for support of projects in our laboratory directed at the stereocontrolled synthesis of unnatural amino acids and their evaluation as mechanism-based inhibitors of PLP enzymes. The Max Planck Society and Professor Herbert Waldmann are also thanked for facilitating the completion of this Report in the context of a sabbatical stay at the MPI-Dortmund.

#### References

1 A.C. Eliot and J.F. Kirsch, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73 (2004), pp. 383-415.

- 2 D.B. Berkowitz, R. De la Salud-Bea and W.-J. Jahng, Org. Lett. 6 (2004), pp. 1821–1824.
- 3 D.B. Berkowitz, E. Chisowa and J.M. McFadden, *Tetrahedron* **57** (2001), pp. 6329–6343.
- 4 D.B. Berkowitz, J.M. McFadden and M.K. Sloss, J. Org. Chem. 65 (2000), pp. 2907–2918.
- 5 D.B. Berkowitz, J.M. McFadden, E. Chisowa and C.L. Semerad, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **122** (2000), pp. 11031–11032.
- 6 D.B. Berkowitz, W.-J. Jahng and M.L. Pedersen, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 6 (1996), pp. 2151–2156.
- 7 M.L. Pedersen and D.B. Berkowitz, J. Org. Chem. 58 (1993), pp. 6966– 6975.
- 8 G. Dardenne, J. Casimir, M. Marlier and P.O. Larsen, *Phytochemistry* 13 (1974), pp. 1897–1900.
- 9 B.I. Posner and M. Flavin, J. Biol. Chem. 247 (1972), pp. 6402-6411.
- 10 M. Flavin and C. Slaughter, J. Biol. Chem. 235 (1960), pp. 1112-1118.
- 11 G. Kapke and L. Davis, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 65 (1975), pp. 765–769.
- 12 E.W. Miles, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 66 (1975), pp. 94-102.
- 13 T.S. Soper, J.M. Manning, P.A. Marcotte and C.T. Walsh, J. Biol. Chem. 252 (1977), pp. 1571–1575.
- 14 N. Esaki, T. Suzuki, H. Tanaka, K. Soda and R.R. Rando, FEBS Lett. 84 (1977), pp. 309–312.
- 15 M. Johnston, R. Raines, M. Chang, N. Esaki, K. Soda and C. Walsh, *Biochemistry* 20 (1981), pp. 4325–4333.
- 16 C. Walsh, R.A. Pascal Jr., M. Johnston, R. Raines, D. Dikshit, A. Krantz and M. Honma, *Biochemistry* 20 (1981), pp. 7509–7519.
- 17 R.R. Rando, Biochemistry 13 (1974), pp. 3859-3863.
- 18 N.W. Cornell, P.F. Zuurendonk, M.J. Kerich and C.B. Straight, *Biochem. J.* **220** (1984), pp. 707–716.
- 19 Y. Asada, K. Tanizawa, K. Yonaha and K. Soda, Agric. Biol. Chem. 52 (1988), pp. 2873–2878.
- 20 P. Marcotte and C. Walsh, Biochemistry 15 (1976), pp. 3070-3076.
- 21 T.M. Zabriskie, M. Klinge, C.M. Szymanski, H. Cheng and J.C. Vederas, Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 26 (1994), pp. 27–48.
- 22 T.M. Zabriskie, H. Cheng and J.C. Vederas, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992), pp. 2270–2272.
- 23 L. Zheng, R.H. White, V.L. Cash and D.R. Dean, *Biochemistry* 33 (1994), pp. 4714–4720.
- 24 G. Capitani, M. Tschopp, A.C. Eliot, J.F. Kirsch and M.G. Grütter, FEBS Lett. 579 (2005), pp. 2458–2462.
- 25 S. Ko, A.C. Eliot and J.F. Kirsch, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 421 (2004), pp. 85–90.
- 26 D.L. McCarthy, G. Capitani, L. Feng, M.G. Gruetter and J.F. Kirsch, *Biochemistry* 40 (2001), pp. 12276–12784.
- 27 L. Feng and J.F. Kirsch, Biochemistry 39 (2000), pp. 2436-2444.
- 28 S. Satoh and S.F. Yang, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 271 (1989), pp. 107-112.
- 29 C.C.J. Culvenor, J.A. Edgar, M.F. Mackay, C.P. Gorst-Allman, W.F.O. Marasas, P.S. Steyn, R. Vleggaar and P.L. Wessels, *Tetrahedron* 45 (1989), pp. 2351–2372.
- 30 M.F. Mackay, A. Van Donkelaar and C.C.J. Culvenor, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1986), pp. 1219–1221.
- 31 B. Levenberg, J. Biol. Chem. 243 (1968), pp. 6009-6013.
- 32 L. Campos, M. Marlier, G. Dardenne and J. Casimir, *Phytochemistry* (*Elsevier*) 22 (1983), pp. 2507–2508.
- 33 R. Vervier and J. Casimir, *Phytochemistry (Elsevier)* 9 (1970), pp. 2059–2060.
- 34 J.P. Scannell, D.L. Pruess, T.C. Demny, L.H. Sello, T. Williams and A.

Stempel, J. Antibiot. 25 (1972), pp. 122-127.

- 35 U. Sahm, G. Knobloch and F. Wagner, J. Antibiot. 26 (1973), pp. 389-390.
- 36 E.W. Miles, Enzyme-Act. Irreversible Inhibitors, Proc. Int. Symp. (1978), pp. 73–85.
- 37 R.R. Rando, Nature 250 (1974), pp. 586-587.
- 38 R.R. Rando, N. Relyea and L. Cheng, J. Biol. Chem. 251 (1976), pp. 3306–3312.
- 39 T. Dashman, Life Sci. 27 (1980), pp. 1415–1522.
- 40 T. Dashman and J.J. Kamm, Life Sci. 24 (1979), pp. 185-192.
- 41 B. Gonzalez, M.A. Pajares, J.A. Hermoso, D. Guillerm, G. Guillerm and J. Sanz-Aparicio, J. Mol. Biol. 331 (2003), pp. 407–416. | PDF (2520 K)
- 42 B. Gonzalez, M.A. Pajares, J.A. Hermoso, L. Alvarez, F. Garrido, J.R. Sufrin and J. Sanz-Aparicio, J. Mol. Biol. 300 (2000), pp. 363–375.
- 43 D.L. Pruess, J.P. Scannell, M. Kellett, H.A. Ax, J. Janecek, T.H. Williams, A. Stempel and J. Berger, J. Antibiot. 27 (1974), pp. 229–233.
- 44 T. Clausen, R. Huber, A. Messerschmidt, H.D. Pohlenz and B. Laber, *Biochemistry* **36** (1997), pp. 12633–12643.
- 45 C. Steegborn, T. Clausen, P. Sondermann, U. Jacob, M. Worbs, S. Marinkovic, R. Huber and M.C. Wahl, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999), pp. 12675–12684.
- 46 H.I. Krupka, R. Huber, S.C. Holt and T. Clausen, *EMBO J.* **19** (2000), pp. 3168–3178.
- 47 I. Icekson and A. Apelbaum, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 113 (1983), pp. 586–591.
- 48 Q. Huai, Y. Xia, Y. Chen, B. Callahan, N. Li and H. Ke, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001), pp. 38210–38216.
- 49 G. Capitani, D.L. McCarthy, H. Gut, M.G. Grutter and J.F. Kirsch, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002), pp. 49735–49742.
- 50 L.D. Owens, S. Guggenheim and J.L. Hilton, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Gen. Subj.* **158** (1968), pp. 219–225.
- 51 L.D. Owens, J.F. Thompson, R.G. Pitcher and T. Williams, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1972), p. 714.
- 52 T. Yasuta, S. Okazaki, H. Mitsui, K.-I. Yuhashi, H. Ezura and K. Minamisawa, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67 (2001), pp. 4999–5009.
- 53 R.E. Mitchell, E.J. Frey and M.H. Benn, *Phytochemistry* **25** (1986), pp. 2711–2715.
- 54 J. Giovanelli, L.D. Owens and S.H. Mudd, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 227 (1971), pp. 671–684.
- 55 K. Minamisawa, K. Fukai and T. Asami, J. Bacteriol. 172 (1990), pp. 4505–4509.
- 56 T. Yasuta, S. Satoh and K. Minamisawa, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (1999), pp. 849–852.
- 57 W. Ma, M. Penrose Donna and R. Glick Bernard, *Can. J. Microbiol.* 48 (2002), pp. 947–954.
- 58 C. Rapp, G. Jung, M. Kugler and W. Loeffler, *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* (1988), pp. 655–661.
- 59 A. Fredenhagen, C. Angst and H.H. Peter, J. Antibiot. 48 (1995), pp. 1043– 1045.
- 60 B.K. Park, A. Hirota and H. Sakai, Agric. Biol. Chem. 40 (1976), pp. 1905–1906.
- 61 C. Steegborn, B. Laber, A. Messerschmidt, R. Huber and T. Clausen, J. Mol. Biol. 311 (2001), pp. 789–801.
- 62 B. Laber, S.D. Lindell and H.D. Pohlenz, Arch. Microbiol. 161 (1994), pp. 400–403.
- 63 N. Murakami, J. Furukawa, S. Okuda and S. Hatanaka, *Phytochemistry* 24 (1985), pp. 2291–2294.
- 64 N. Murakami and S. Hatanaka, Phytochemistry 22 (1983), pp. 2735-2737.

- 65 M. Timmermans, T. Randoux, D. Daloze, J.C. Braekman, J.M. Pasteels and L. Lesage, *Biochem. Syst. Ecol.* **20** (1992), pp. 343–349.
- 66 V. Plasman, M. Plehiers, J.C. Braekman, D. Daloze, J.C. De Biseau and J.M. Pasteels, *Chemoecology* 11 (2001), pp. 107–112.
- 67 Y. Aoyagi, S. Takasaki, S. Fujihara, A. Kasuga and T. Sugahara, *Phytochemistry* 46 (1997), pp. 1095–1096.
- 68 H. Matsuda, T. Okino, R. Haraguchi, M. Murakami and K. Yamaguchi, Tennen Yuki Kagobutsu Toronkai Koen Yoshishu 35 (1993), pp. 654– 661.
- 69 H. Matsuda, T. Okino, M. Murakami and K. Yamaguchi, J. Org. Chem. 61 (1996), pp. 8648–8650.
- 70 J.E. Coleman and J.L. Wright, J. Nat. Prod. 64 (2001), pp. 668-670.
- 71 R.R. Doyle and B. Levenberg, Biochemistry 7 (1968), pp. 2457-2462.
- 72 L. Chaiet, B.H. Arison, R.L. Monaghan, J.P. Springer, J.L. Smith and S.B. Zimmerman, J. Antibiot. 37 (1984), pp. 207–210.
- 73 S. Rajesh, E.i. Ami, T. Kotake, H. Tsukamoto, T. Kimura, Y. Hayashi and Y. Kiso, *Pept. Sci.* **39** (2003), pp. 151–152.
- 74 M.R. Paleo, N. Aurrecoechea, K.-Y. Jung and H. Rapoport, J. Org. Chem. 68 (2003), pp. 130–138.
- 75 E.G. Nolen, A.J. Kurish, K.A. Wong and M.D. Orlando, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 44 (2003), pp. 2449–2453.
- 76 S. Rajesh, E.i. Ami, T. Kotake, T. Kimura, Y. Hayashi and Y. Kiso, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **12** (2002), pp. 3615–3617.
- 77 P.N. Collier, A.D. Campbell, I. Patel and R.J.K. Taylor, *Tetrahedron* 58 (2002), pp. 6117–6125.
- 78 Y. Gao, P. Lane-Bell and J.C. Vederas, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998), pp. 2133–2143.
- 79 C.M. Huwe and S. Blechert, Synthesis (1997), pp. 61-67.
- 80 S.e. Yoo, S.H. Lee, N. Jeong and I. Cho, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 34 (1993), pp. 3435–3438.
- 81 H.J. Zeiss, Tetrahedron 48 (1992), pp. 8263-8270.
- 82 G.T. Crisp and P.T. Glink, Tetrahedron 48 (1992), pp. 3541-3556.
- 83 I. Zahn, K. Polborn, B. Wagner and W. Beck, *Chem. Ber.* **124** (1991), pp. 1065–1073.
- 84 W.J. Krol, S.S. Mao, D.L. Steele and C.A. Townsend, J. Org. Chem. 56 (1991), pp. 728–731.
- 85 P. Meffre, L. Vo Quang, Y. Vo Quang and F. Le Goffie, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 31 (1990), pp. 2291–2294.
- 86 S. Mzengeza and R.A. Whitney, J. Org. Chem. 53 (1988), pp. 4074-4081.
- 87 J. Wityak, S.J. Gould, S.J. Hein and D.A. Keszler, J. Org. Chem. 52 (1987), pp. 2179–2183.
- 88 S. Mzengeza, C.M. Yang and R.A. Whitney, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109 (1987), pp. 276–277.
- 89 S. Fushiya, H. Chiba, A. Otsubo and S. Nozoe, *Chem. Lett.* (1987), pp. 2229–2232.
- 90 S. Cardani, L. Prati and O. Tinti, Synthesis (1986), pp. 1032-1035.
- 91 A. Afzali-Ardakani and H. Rapoport, J. Org. Chem. 45 (1980), pp. 4817– 4820.
- 92 A.G. Griesbeck and H. Heckroth, *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* 2 (2003), pp. 1130–1133.
- 93 A.G. Griesbeck and J. Hirt, Liebigs Ann. Chem. (1995), pp. 1957-1961.
- 94 D.B. Berkowitz and M.K. Smith, Synthesis (1996), pp. 39-41.
- 95 R. Pellicciari, B. Natalini and M. Marinozzi, Synth. Commun. 18 (1988), pp. 1715–1721.
- 96 W. Zhang, S. Luo, F. Fang, Q. Chen, H. Hu, X. Jia and H. Zhai, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005), pp. 18–19.
- 97 K.S. Feldman, A.L. Perkins and K.M. Masters, J. Org. Chem. 69 (2004), pp. 7928–7932.

- 98 P.A. Grieco, S. Gilman and M. Nishizawa, J. Org. Chem. 41 (1976), pp. 1485–1486.
- 99 S. Hanessian and S.P. Sahoo, Tetrahedron Lett. 25 (1984), pp. 1425-1428.
- 100 D.H.R. Barton, D. Crich, Y. Herve, P. Potier and J. Thierry, *Tetrahedron* 41 (1985), pp. 4347–4357.
- 101 R. Badorrey, C. Cativiela, M.D. Diaz-de-Villegas and J.A. Galvez, Synthesis (1997), pp. 747–749.
- 102 R. Badorrey, C. Cativiela, M.D. Diaz-de-Villegas, R. Diez and J.A. Galvez, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* (2003), pp. 2268–2275.
- 103 N.G.W. Rose, M.A. Blaskovich, A. Wong and G.A. Lajoie, *Tetrahedron* 57 (2001), pp. 1497–1507.
- 104 P.L. Beaulieu, J.S. Duceppe and C. Johnson, J. Org. Chem. 56 (1991), pp. 4196–4204.
- 105 P. Friis, P. Helboe and P.O. Larsen, Acta Chem. Scand., B, Org. Chem. Biochem. 28 (1974), pp. 317–321.
- 106 K.O. Hallinan, D.H.G. Crout and W. Errington, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (1994), pp. 3537–3543.
- 107 U. Schöllkopf, J. Nozulak and U. Groth, *Tetrahedron* **40** (1984), pp. 1409–1417.
- 108 P.F. Hudrlik and A.K. Kulkarni, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103 (1981), pp. 6251– 6253.
- 109 B.M. Trost and R.C. Bunt, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122 (2000), pp. 5968– 5976.
- 110 B.M. Trost, Pure Appl. Chem. 68 (1996), pp. 779-784.

- 111 B.M. Trost and R.C. Bunt, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 35 (1996), pp. 99-102.
- 112 D.B. Berkowitz, M. Bose and S. Choi, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 41 (2002), pp. 1603–1607.
- 113 D.B. Berkowitz, W. Shen and G. Maiti, *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 15 (2004), pp. 2845–2851.
- 114 D.B. Berkowitz and G. Maiti, Org. Lett. 6 (2004), pp. 2661-2664.
- 115 D.D. Keith, J.A. Tortora and R. Yang, J. Org. Chem. 43 (1978), pp. 3711–3713.
- 116 V. Alks and J.R. Sufrin, Tetrahedron Lett. 31 (1990), pp. 5257-5260.
- 117 D.D. Keith, J.A. Tortora, K. Ineichen and W. Leimgruber, *Tetrahedron* **31** (1975), pp. 2633–2636.
- 118 P. Czapinski, B. Blaszczyk and S.J. Czuczwar, Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 5 (2005), pp. 3–14.
- 119 S.M. Nanavati and R.B. Silverman, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113 (1991), pp. 9341–9349.
- 120 D. De Biase, D. Barra, F. Bossa, P. Pucci and R.A. John, *J. Biol. Chem.* **266** (1991), pp. 20056–20061.
- 121 P. Storici, D. De Biase, F. Bossa, S. Bruno, A. Mozzarelli, C. Peneff, R.B. Silverman and T. Schirmer, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004), pp. 363–373.
- 122 J.D. Brodie, E. Figueroa, E.M. Laska and S.L. Dewey, *Synapse* 55 (2005), pp. 122–125.
- 123 M.R. Gerasimov and S.L. Dewey, *Drug Dev. Res.* **59** (2003), pp. 240–248.
- 124 J.D. Brodie, E. Figueroa and S.L. Dewey, Synapse 50 (2003), pp. 261-265.